The Senate

Education, Employment and Workplace Relations Legislation Committee

Fair Work Amendment Bill 2012 [Provisions]

November 2012



Canberra.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Gavin Marshall, Chair, ALP, Vic.

Senator Chris Back, **Deputy Chair**, LP, WA

Senator Catryna Bilyk, ALP, Tas.

Senator Bridget McKenzie, Nat., Vic.

Senator Lee Rhiannon, AG, NSW

Senator Matt Thistlethwaite, ALP, NSW

Participating Members

Senator the Hon. Eric Abetz

Secretariat

Mr Tim Watling, Secretary

Ms Bonnie Allan, Principal Research Officer

Ms Natasha Rusjakovski, Senior Research Officer

Mr Tim Hillman, Research Officer

Mr Isaac Overton, Research Officer

Ms Sarah Bainbridge, Administrative Officer

PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600 Ph: 02 6277 3521 Fax: 02 6277 5706

E-mail: eewr.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE	iii
RECOMMENDATIONS	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction and overview	1
Reference	1
Conduct of inquiry	1
Background	1
Overview of the bill	1
Compatibility with human rights	2
Matters identified by the Senate Scrutiny of Bills Committee	3
Acknowledgment	3
Notes on references	3
CHAPTER 2	5
Issues	5
Amendments arising from the Fair Work Act Review Panel	5
Amendments arising from the Productivity Commission's repor superannuation funds	
Conclusion	21
COALITION SENATORS' DISSENTING REPORT	23
Introduction	23
Superannuation	23
Fair Work Review	26
Vice Presidents of Fair Work Australia	27
'Fair Work Commission'	30
Other recommendations	31

Key Performance Indicators	33
Conclusion	34
APPENDIX 1	35
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED	35
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	37
ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS ON NOTICE	37
APPENDIX 2	39
Witnesses who appeared before the Committee	39

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1

2.79 The committee recommends that the Senate pass the bill.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and overview

Reference

1.1 On 1 November 2012, the Senate referred the provisions of the Fair Work Amendment Bill 2012 (the bill) to the Senate Education, Employment and Workplace Relations Legislation Committee (the committee) for inquiry and report by 26 November 2012.

Conduct of inquiry

- 1.2 The committee advertised in *The Australian* on 7 November 2012, calling for submissions by 13 November 2012. Details of the inquiry were also made available on the committee's website. ¹
- 1.3 The committee also contacted a number of organisations inviting submissions to the inquiry. Submissions were received from 34 individuals and organisations, as detailed in Appendix 1.
- 1.4 A public hearing was held in Canberra on 21 November 2012. The witness list for the hearing is at Appendix 2.

Background

1.5 The bill seeks to implement the first tranche of amendments to the Fair Work Act (the Act) recommended by a review of the Act conducted between December 2011 and June 2012, by an independent panel of three experts. The panel made 53 recommendations aimed at improving the operation of the legislation without compromising productivity and fairness in the workplace.

Overview of the bill

- 1.6 According to the Explanatory Memorandum (EM), apart from technical and consequential amendments, the bill would make:
- amendments to clarify that opt-out terms cannot be included in enterprise agreements, that enterprise agreements cannot be made with only one employee and that a union official from one union cannot act as a bargaining representative where that union does not have coverage;
- amendments to align the time limits for lodging unfair dismissal claims and general protections claims involving dismissal at 21 days and to provide new

www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate_Committees?url=eet_ctte/Fair_work_2012/index.htm (accessed 12 November 2012)

- measures in relation to dismissing unfair dismissal applications and costs orders in certain circumstances:
- amendments to clarify which union members are able to vote on and participate in protected industrial action and the conduct of protected action ballots, including allowing for electronic voting and requiring ballots to be conducted expeditiously
- structural amendments to FWA including:
 - changing the name to the Fair Work Commission (FWC), including provision for the appointment of the General Manager on the nomination of the FWC President;
 - allowing stay orders to be made by Presidential Members;
 - allowing for the appointment of acting Commissioners;
 - creating two statutory positions of Vice President;
 - establishing a process to deal with complaints against FWC members and streamlining provisions dealing with conflicts of interest of members; and
 - other minor amendments to improve the conduct of matters before the FWC.
- 1.7 The bill would also amend the Act to give effect to the Government's response to the Productivity Commission's *Report into Default Superannuation Funds in Modern Awards (Report No. 60)*. The bill would specifically:
- introduce new requirements in relation to modern award terms about default superannuation, and a process under which the FWC would review default fund terms every 4 years (at the same time as the 4 yearly review of modern awards); and
- provide for the establishment of the Expert Panel, which will subsume the functions of the Minimum Wage Panel (MWP) and will include members with relevant expertise to allow them to be appointed to the Expert Panel assessing default superannuation funds or to the Expert Panel responsible for the annual minimum wage review.

Compatibility with human rights

1.8 The provisions in the bill engage a number of rights, including the right to just and favourable conditions of work, the right to freedom of association, the right to privacy and reputation, and the right to a fair hearing. The Explanatory Memorandum states that the bill is compatible with human rights and freedoms.² The Parliamentary

² Explanatory Memorandum, p. 3. See also pp 3 - 10.

Joint Committee on Human Rights has not yet reported on its consideration of the bill.³

Matters identified by the Senate Scrutiny of Bills Committee

1.9 The committee notes that the Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills wrote to the Minister for Employment and Workplace Relations, the Hon. Bill Shorten MP, regarding certain aspects of the bill. These specifically relate to the possible inappropriate delegation of power and possible undue trespass on personal rights and liberties. The Minister's response is unlikely to be received before the tabling of this report. The committee considers that the matters raised by the Scrutiny of Bills Committee should be satisfactorily resolved before the bill proceeds.

Acknowledgment

1.10 The committee thanks those individuals and organisations who contributed to the inquiry by preparing written submissions and giving evidence at the hearing.

Notes on references

3

1.11 References in this report to the *Hansard* for the public hearing are to the *Proof Hansard*. Please note that page numbers may vary between the proof and the official transcripts.

The Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights' Seventh Report of 2012 will be available

on the following website, once it is tabled:

http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate_Committees?url=humanrights_ctte/reports/index.htm (accessed 22 November 2012).

⁴ Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills, *Alert Digest No. 14 2012*, 21 November 2012, pp 8–12. Concern was raised in relation to Part 4, Schedule 6; Schedule 8, item 62, proposed subsection 581A(3); Schedule 8, item 62, proposed section 581B and Schedule 11, item 1.

CHAPTER 2

Issues

Amendments arising from the Fair Work Act Review Panel

2.1 The bill contains a number of amendments to the Fair Work Act 2009 that reflect, in part, the findings of the Fair Work Act (FWA) Review Panel. The Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR) explained the findings of the Review Panel:

In [its] report, the Panel found that the [Fair Work] Act was operating as intended, consistent with the objects of the legislation. The Panel also found that important economic outcomes such as wages growth, industrial disputation, the responsiveness of wages to supply and demand, the rate of employment growth and the flexibility of work patterns have been favourable to Australia's continuing prosperity under the...Act. The Panel did not recommend wholesale changes, but instead made 53 mainly technical recommendations to further promote productivity, improve equity or correct anomalies with the...Act.²

2.2 Many submitters to this inquiry offered general support for the bill. For example, the Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU) provided the following statement of support:

The Bill represents a balanced package of largely technical and administrative amendments which we support. We would urge the prompt enactment of the Bill, noting its widespread support and the thorough consultation process that preceded it. Accordingly, the ACTU suggests that its passage be recommended to the Senate.³

2.3 However, a significant proportion of submitters, while overall in support of the bill, called for amendments. While a number of specific amendments are argued for, many objections are couched in terms of what they see as the Government's failure to adopt the recommendations of the FWA Review Panel as a package. The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia (CCI) was typical of a number of submitters in arguing that:

See, for example, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission* 8, p. 1; Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission* 11, p. 1.

² Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 4.

³ Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 1.

⁴ See, for example, JobWatch, *Submission 12*, p. 1; Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 5; Master Builders Australia, *Submission 18*, p. 5; Maritime Union of Australia, *Submission 21*, p. 1; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 3.

- ...it is disappointing that the Bill only seeks to introduce approximately 18 of the 53 recommendations which were made...the Bill fails to implement many reasonable recommendations made by the Expert Panel.⁵
- 2.4 The bill is clearly described by its Explanatory Memorandum (EM) as the first tranche of amendments to the Fair Work Act. It is therefore intended that other recommendations may be implemented in the future. To this end, DEEWR further explained that:

As a result of [stakeholder] consultations it was clear there is broad support for around one third of the recommendations. These recommendations are reflected in the Bill. The Minister has committed to continue to work with stakeholders on the remaining recommendations with a view to introducing further legislation in the new year. In doing so, the Minister has publicly stated that he has neither ruled in nor out any of the Panel's remaining recommendations.⁶

2.5 Issues identified and discussed in this chapter are those which are relevant to provisions in this bill, and emphasis is given to key issues identified by submitters. Discussion of suggested amendments which may be picked up in a future bill will be discussed if and when such a bill comes before the committee.

Standing to apply to vary awards

2.6 The bill proposes to give registered organisations standing to apply to vary awards. This provision attracted broad support, including from the ACTU, the Housing Industry Association (HIA), the Maritime Union of Australia (MUA), THE Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry (ACCI) and Ai Group.⁷ The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia also offered support, but argued that unregistered organisations should also have standing.⁸

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Submission 28*, p. 5. See also, Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, Workplace Relations and Economic Strategy, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 19.

See, for example, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 2; Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 6; Maritime Union of Australia, *Submission 21*, p. 2; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 27; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 8.

8 Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 1.

Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission 15*, pp 1–2. See also, for example, Business Council of Australia, *Submission 20*, pp 3–6; Australian Federation of Employers and Industries, *Submission 23*, p. 1; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 7; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 3. These concerns were reiterated by ACCI and AMMA during the public hearing in Canberra: Mr Daniel Mammone, Director of Workplace Policy and Legal Affairs, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 4; Ms Lisa Matthews, Senior Workplace Policy Adviser, Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 7.

Union officials only to act as bargaining representatives for workers the union is eligible to represent.

- 2.7 The bill would provide that an official of an employee organisation cannot be a bargaining representative for an employee unless that organisation is itself entitled to represent the industrial interests of the employee in relation to work that will be performed under the proposed enterprise agreement. This amendment responds to Review Panel recommendation 21.
- 2.8 The proposal had widespread support, including but not limited to the ACTU, HIA, Chamber of Commerce WA, and Australian Mineral and Metals Association (AMMA).⁹
- 2.9 The MUA was opposed to the amendment, taking the view that:

...the philosophy underpinning the bargaining representative regime is that an employee should be able to be represented by a person or organisation of their own free choice. Given the fundamental importance of freedom of association as enshrined in the ILO Convention Concerning Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise, we feel it inappropriate to restrict an employee's free choice of bargaining representative in the manner proposed by [the bill]. ¹⁰

Agreement clauses that permit "opting out" to be unlawful terms.

- 2.10 The bill would clarify, consistent with recent decisions of the full bench of Fair Work Australia, that terms which enable employees to 'opt out' of an enterprise agreement are prohibited.¹¹
- 2.11 A group of submitters, including the HIA, ACCI and Ai Group were opposed to the amendment.¹² The HIA submitted that, while it recognised that opt out clauses had the potential to undermine bargaining certainty, its overall position was that parties should be free to include them if desired. Similarly, the Business Council of Australia (BCA) submitted that:

The proposal to prevent opt-out clauses in enterprise agreements is disappointing. Such clauses provide for the situation where individual employees for a range of reasons may wish to have an alternative employment arrangement with their employer. It is of particular concern

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 7, citing Construction, Forestry, Mining, and Energy Union v Queensland Bulk Handling Pty Ltd [2012] FWAFB 7551 (3 September 2012); Aldi Foods Pty Ltd v Transport Workers' Union of Australia; National Union of Workers, NSW Branch [2012] FWAFB 9398 (1 November 2012).

⁹ Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 3; Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 5; Chamber of Commerce and Industry of WA, *Submission 15*, p. 1; Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Submission 30*, p. 3.

¹⁰ Maritime Union of Australia, Submission 21, p. 3.

Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 8; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 28; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 9.

that this amendment is retrospective and will remove the opportunity to use opt-out clauses in current agreements in the future. ¹³

2.12 On the other hand, the Australian Manufacturing Workers Union (AMWU) supported the amendment, arguing that:

[P]ermitting opt-out clauses can lead to manipulation of bargaining and agreement-making to undermine good faith bargaining entirely. When the good faith bargaining framework provided by the Act is premised on a majority vote for an agreement following good faith negotiations with the group of employees to be covered by that agreement, the facility of "opting out" of an agreement renders the framework meaningless. Those who can "opt out" can negotiate and bargain for a new agreement, including potentially taking protected industrial action. Those who do not "opt out" are at risk from manipulation of the real group of employees ultimately to be covered by the agreement.¹⁴

Prohibition on single employee enterprise agreements

- 2.13 The bill proposes to prohibit single employee enterprise agreements. This measure was opposed by a number of submitters, including the HIA, ACCI, and Ai Group. ¹⁵ Master Builders Australia also opposed this prohibition, preferring a 'better off overall test' as the test for allowing EAs, regardless of employee numbers. ¹⁶
- 2.14 Master Electricians considered that the amendment was unfair on small businesses, many of which have fewer than three staff, and proposed instead to limit the operation of the provision to proprietary limited companies with more than 1 employee, and specifically exclude partnerships and sole traders.¹⁷
- 2.15 However, the ACTU supported the provision, submitting that:

The practical reality is that such agreements serve to artificially "lock down" the terms and conditions in an enterprise before a sufficient workforce has been engaged to genuinely participate in good faith bargaining. Single employee agreements would therefore be attractive to newer businesses seeking to satisfy the limited "market rate" conditions associated with sponsoring guest workers. This amendment resolves the legal dispute in a manner which is consistent with the underlying policy of genuine good faith collective bargaining. ¹⁸

2.16 The AMWU felt similarly, explaining that:

17 Submission 3, pp 1–2.

Australian Council of Trade Unions, Submission 8, p. 4.

Business Council of Australia, Submission 20, p. 5.

¹⁴ Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, Submission 11, p. 1.

Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 8; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 27; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 8.

¹⁶ Submission 18, p. 8.

As we further submitted to the Panel, to provide that a collective enterprise agreement can be made with a single employee flies in the face of a structure of bargaining and agreement making in an Act premised upon collective bargaining, that is, employees negotiating collectively with their employer. The extensive public discussion, and phasing out of Australian Workplace Agreements through the use of Individual Transitional Enterprise Agreements prior to the commencement of the Act, together with the explicit provisions of the Explanatory Memorandum make it abundantly clear that an individual agreement is not a collective agreement, and collective agreement making provisions in the Act should not be able to be manipulated in this way.¹⁹

Aligning the period for lodgement of unfair dismissal applications with the limitation period for unfair dismissal-related general protections claims

2.17 The bill would extend the period for lodgement of unfair dismissal claims and reduce the limitation period for unfair dismissal-related general protection claims. These measures would increase the allowable period in which to lodge a claim for unfair dismissal from 14 to 21 days, and reduce from 60 to 21 days the allowable period in which to lodge a dismissal-related general protection claim. The Department set out the background of the amendments this way:

Aligning the timeframes for applications at 21 days reflects [Review]Panel recommendations 40 and 49, which were made in response to concerns raised by both employers and unions. Employers raised concerns that many general protections dismissal claims were in fact more properly characterised as out of time unfair dismissal claims and that different timeframes allow employees to withdraw an unfair dismissal claim after an unfavourable conciliation and lodge a general protections dismissal claim instead. These practices undermine the intent of the provisions and downplay the seriousness of general protections claims. Unions argued that the current 14 day time frame for unfair dismissal applications did not allow for sufficient time for dismissed employees to seek advice.²⁰

2.18 In respect of the proposed increase in the time allowed to lodge an unfair dismissal claim, submitters' opinions were divided. The committee notes support for the measure from AMWU, the National Tertiary Education Union (NTEU), the MUA and the ACTU. For example, the ACTU submitted that:

We believe that 21 days is an appropriate period to enable employees to seek advice on potential unfair dismissal applications. We accept that an alignment of the time limits for termination of employment matters in the context of the package of amendments as a whole.²¹

¹⁹ *Submission 11*, pp 2–3.

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 5.

Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 5. See also Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 11*, p. 4; National Tertiary Education Union, *Submission 6*, p. 5; Maritime Union of Australia, *Submission 21*, p. 4.

2.19 During the public hearing in Canberra, Mr Tim Lyons, Assistant Secretary of the ACTU, explained that 21 days provided people with sufficient time to seek appropriate advice before making the decision lodge an unfair dismissal claim:

We support the increase in the lodgement time for unfair dismissals because this is a really practical thing. I used to do a lot of unfair dismissals as an organiser, and giving people three weeks to seek proper advice and have a discussion with the employer before they decide whether or not to lodge a claim gives people more time to deal with the matters, get the proper advice and ensure that, if a claim is made, it is a claim that has merit and a claim that has been properly considered.²²

- 2.20 Other submitters supported, or did not object to, the increase to 21 days, but argued the lodgement period should be longer. For example, the Employment Law Council of Western Australia considered that the increase was positive but should extend to 90 days and the Redfern Legal Centre considered the deadline should be 60 days.²³ The Kingsford Legal Centre agreed, arguing that, even at 21 days, people are likely to file claims with little or no prospects of success because they have not had adequate time to seek legal advice. This would result in a higher workload and costs for FWA and employers.²⁴
- 2.21 On the other hand, the increase was opposed by organisations such as the Australian Federation of Employers and Industries and the AMMA.²⁵ Submitters such as HIA supported alignment of the claim period with the general protections claim period (discussed in the following paragraphs), but considered that both should be reduced to 14 days.²⁶
- 2.22 Having regard to the proposal in the bill to decrease from 60 to 21 days the allowable claim period for dismissal-related general protection claims, submitters were again divided. Support for this measure was received from a number of submitters, including ACCI and Ai Group.²⁷
- 2.23 Other submitters considered that the time limit should be maintained at its current level ²⁸ or increased. Submitters arguing for the latter camp included the Employment Law Centre of Western Australia and the MUA. The MUA sumbitted that:

Mr Tim Lyons, Assistant Secretary, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 17.

Employment Law Centre of WA, *Submission 1*, p. 1; Redfern Legal Centre, *Submission 22*, p. 4.

²⁴ Kingsford Legal Centre, Submission 17, p. 2.

Australian Federation Employers and Industries, *Submission 23*, p. 2; Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Submission 30*, pp 3, 11.

Housing Industry Association, Submission 14, p. 9.

²⁷ Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 30; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 10.

See, for example, Queensland Nurses' Union, Submission 10, p. 3.

Unlike an unfair dismissal application, where failed conciliation may ultimately result in arbitration before the Tribunal, failed conciliation of a general protections dispute is a precursor to court action. The considerations informing the decision to bring a general protections dispute application are therefore more complex, involving considerations of greater costs, lengthier and more formal proceedings and additional commitment and concomitant stress.²⁹

- 2.24 Similarly, the NTEU called for the limit to be set at 28 days, to reflect the extra time needed to prepare for a General Protection claim, as opposed to the time required to lodge an application. The same position was taken by Kingsford Legal Centre, although they sought a 90 day limit, or at least the retention of the existing 60 days.³⁰
- 2.25 JobWatch argued against alignment of the time periods on the basis that telephone conciliation of unfair dismissal claims often resolved matters. However, if it did not, employees could discontinue the unfair dismissal claim and file a general protection application where that was a more appropriate course of action. This would not be possible if both unfair dismissal and general protection claims were subject to 21 day time limits.³¹
- 2.26 The committee notes DEEWR's submission that aligning the timeframes will ensure that:
 - dismissed employees make the right claim in the right jurisdiction;
 - employees have an appropriate timeframe to seek advice about a dismissal so they can make this choice in an informed way; and
 - employers will respond to one claim in respect of a dismissal, not an unfair dismissal claim and later a general protections claim.³²
- 2.27 DEEWR also submitted that the 21 day time limit was arrived at as a compromise between the various groups who took part in the consultation process, and that it is an equitable approach which provides adequate time for employees to seek advice while also providing certainty to employees.³³

Broadening FWA power to issue costs orders

2.28 The bill would give FWA the power to order costs where a party has unreasonably failed to discontinue, unreasonably failed to agree to settlement or has unreasonably caused the other party to incur costs.

32 Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 5.

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 6.

²⁹ Maritime Union of Australia, Submission 21, p. 4.

National Tertiary Education Union, *Submission 6*, p. 5; Kingsford Legal Centre, *Submission 17*, p. 5.

³¹ JobWatch, Submission 12, pp 4–5.

- 2.29 This amendment received qualified support from the ACTU, ACCI, and the HIA (ACCI and HIA supported the measure provided it extended to union officials). ³⁴
- 2.30 However, a number of other submitters did not support the amendment. The Employment Law Centre of Western Australia and JobWatch were among them, the latter arguing that FWA can already refuse to grant a lawyer permission to appear, and there are existing procedures for security of costs in unfair dismissal applications. JobWatch considered that existing measures are adequate to achieve the policy outcomes sought by the amendment. ³⁵

Departmental Response

2.31 The Department submitted that the amendment responded to Panel recommendation 45 and reflected the Panel's concern that unscrupulous lawyers or agents were encouraging dismissed employees to pursue unfair dismissal claims without merit on a no-win no-fee basis. The amendment would facilitate costs orders to be made against a person or their legal representative when they have unreasonably pursued or defended a claim but, according to the Department, would not stop a party from robustly pursuing a genuine claim.³⁶

FWA power to dismiss unfair dismissal applications

2.32 The bill would also give Fair Work Australia the power to dismiss unfair dismissal applications where the applicant unreasonably fails to attend or comply with orders/directions or discontinue a matter after a settlement agreement has been concluded. The amendment responds to a recommendation of the Expert Panel, and was broadly supported.³⁷

Power to appoint two full-time Vice Presidents.

2.33 The Act currently provides for the appointment of a President, Deputy Presidents and Commissioners to FWA.³⁸ Currently FWA has two Members who were originally appointed as Vice Presidents and a number of Members who were originally appointed as Senior Deputy Presidents, under the previous legislative

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 28, p. 6.

Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 5; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 31; Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 5.

³⁵ JobWatch, Submission 12, p. 7.

³⁷ See, for example, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 5; Housing Industry Association, *Submission 14*, p. 10; Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 1; Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 10.

³⁸ Fair Work Act 2009, section 575.

scheme.³⁹ The committee was informed that during consultations Justice Iain Ross, President of FWA, proposed that two Vice President positions be created in order to attract senior legal specialists with high level expertise and to assist him in the administration and management of the tribunal, a proposal subsequently included in the bill.⁴⁰

- 2.34 Submitter opinion on the amendment varied widely. For example, the Business Council of Australia, Chamber of Commerce and Industry of WA, AMMA and ACCI were opposed, taking the view that a need for the new positions had not been established.⁴¹ On the other hand, Ai Group was not opposed, provided the appointments were made on merit.⁴²
- 2.35 The Law Council of Australia raised a matter of judicial independence, arguing that unless the existing Deputy Presidents were appointed to the new Vice President positions, the effect of new vice presidents being appointed would be to 'reduce the status' of the current Deputy Presidents and that:

Henceforth responsibilities that would have been capable of being delegated or given to them by nature of their senior status would instead be given to the new statutory Vice Presidents. This would have the tendency to reduce the independence of the Tribunal in that it will reduce the role and privileges associated with particular individuals.⁴³

2.36 The Law Council further argued that:

As a general principle, once a person has been appointed to sit on a Court or independent Tribunal with designated powers and privileges, any change that would have the effect of removing or reducing that particular person's powers or privileges while not affecting the powers and privileges of other Members of that Tribunal, has a tendency to undermine the independence of the Court or Tribunal. That is so because such action can be portrayed as

43 Law Council of Australia, Submission 29, p. 3.

When the Australian Industrial Relations Commission transitioned to Fair Work Australia (as provided for by the Fair Work Act 2009), transitional provisions provided that the existing Vice Presidents, Senior Deputy Presidents and Deputy Presidents of that body were all appointed as Deputy Presidents of Fair Work Australia. However, each retained their title, status and remuneration (in particular the two former Vice Presidents): *Fair Work (Transitional Provisions and Consequential Amendments) Act 2009*, schedule 19, items 1, 2 and 4. See also, Law Council of Australia, *Submission 29*, p. 3.

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Submission 28*, p. 10. See also Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 20.

⁴¹ Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 34; Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Submission 30*, p. 4.

⁴² Ai Group, Submission 26, p. 12.

being done because the individual Member is not in favour with the Parliament or the Executive.⁴⁴

2.37 During the public hearing Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, DEEWR, emphasised that the positions had been created on the basis of a recommendation made by the President of Fair Work Australia, and that 'the positions will be publically advertised and will be subject to a merit based selection process consistent with government policy'. 45

President's power to decide a matter personally

2.38 The bill provides that the President of FWA would have the power to decide a matter personally, even after it has been allocated to a single member of the full bench for decision. The most substantive submission in respect of this proposal came from the Law Council of Australia, which criticised the move in the following terms:

Proposed s 615C provides that after the President has allocated a matter to a single Member or a Full Bench the President can decide "to perform the function or exercise a power" himself or herself. Upon that occurring, the earlier direction that the single Member or Full Bench determine the matter is revoked. There are no preconditions to that decision and it can occur at any time, even during a proceeding. The President does not need to have considered submissions, nor be satisfied that it is in the public interest to do The [Law Council's Industrial Law] Committee considers it inappropriate that the Fair Work Act should include a provision that empowers the President to take over a matter allocated to a Full Bench and deal with it. Should such a power be exercised it would have the potential to reduce the standing of the Tribunal, given the potential for such an action to be characterised or perceived as an attack on the independence and/or competence of the Full Bench. That it might occur as a consequence of, or following submissions made by, a party would tend to emphasise the potential for the action to be portrayed as one intended to achieve a result or procedure different from that which the Full Bench might have expected to determine or adopt.⁴⁶

2.39 However, the Department submitted that the provision was advantageous as it would allow matters before the FWC to be escalated in significant cases and potentially save the parties time and further expense on later appeals. The committee notes the Department's contention that the inclusion of such a measure received broad support from stakeholders during the consultation phase.⁴⁷

47 Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Submission* 28, p. 11.

⁴⁴ Law Council of Australia, Submission 29, p. 3. This criticism was endorsed by ACCI during the public hearing in Canberra: Mr Daniel Mammone, Director of Workplace Policy and Legal Affairs, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Proof Committee Hansard, 21 November 2012, p. 3. See also, Mr Steve Knott, Chief Executive, Australian Mines and Metals Association, Proof Committee Hansard, 21 November 2012, pp 10–11.

⁴⁵ Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 20.

⁴⁶ Law Council of Australia, Submission 29, p. 2.

Fair Work Australia to be renamed the "Fair Work Commission".

2.40 The bill would rename FWA as the Fair Work Commission. This proposal elicited relatively little comment from submitters. A number of submitters saw merit in resurrecting the title 'Australian Industrial Relations Commission', on the basis that the name is well known and accepted in the community. 48

Amendments arising from the Productivity Commission's report into default superannuation funds

2.41 The bill contains amendments that arise from the Productivity Commission's report on default superannuation funds. Many submissions provided general support for the contention that default superannuation schemes are required. The Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees advised that:

Default superannuation arrangements have existed in the industrial relations system since prior to the advent of the Superannuation Guarantee. They have operated to ensure universality, fairness and balance, in a way that is supported by the representatives of employers and employees, and by the industrial tribunal itself.⁴⁹

2.42 However, these reforms also attracted a significant amount of criticism. The submission from Russell Investments summed up the tone of many:

The Bill partly adopts the recommendations of the Productivity Commission. Importantly, key recommendations from the Productivity Commission are not included in the Bill. We are concerned that the apparently hurried nature of this response and the failure to adopt the Productivity Commission recommendations as a coherent package will lead to the potential for significant adverse outcomes for ordinary superannuation fund members.⁵⁰

Exclusion of Corporate and Tailored MySuper products from nomination as default funds

2.43 The bill would amend the Act to provide that a superannuation fund is eligible to be included on the Default Superannuation List in a modern award if it is a 'generic MySuper product'. Corporate MySuper products are expressly excluded from eligibility. This would remove the ability of employers to contribute to a corporate fund as the default fund (even though it is a MySuper product) in respect of

⁴⁸ See, for example, Chamber of Commerce and Industry (WA), *Submission 15*, p. 3; Maritime Union of Australia, *Submission 21*, p. 7; Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Submission 25*, p. 39; AiGroup, *Submission 26*, p. 13; Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Submission 30*, p. 4

⁴⁹ Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees, *Submission 9*, p. 3. A notable exception to this general sentiment was the Financial Services Council, *Submission 31*, p. 9.

Russell Investments, Submission 16, p. 1.

employees covered by a modern award.⁵¹ This was the cause of considerable criticism from a number of submitters.⁵²

- 2.44 Those who opposed the change argued that the retention of corporate funds as default funds in awards has been the result of careful bargaining and negotiation, and that removal of these funds from eligibility to be a default fund, and the consequent inability of employers to contribute for Superannuation Guarantee purposes, would disrupt agreed arrangements and operate to the detriment of employees.
- 2.45 It was argued that in many cases the types of funds which stand to become ineligible offer terms and conditions which are substantially more favourable for members than some or all of the funds typically listed in Modern Awards. It was submitted that the proposed legislative changes would mean members of many of these funds are likely to be significantly disadvantaged, for example through higher fees and/or inferior insurance arrangements. ⁵³ A few examples follow.
- 2.46 Corporate Super Association did not support the exclusion of corporate MySuper products, describing the proposed amendment as:

...unjust, unexplained and is not based on any reasonable policy grounds....to exclude a fund that has qualified for MySuper status simply because it is not a public offer fund is not justifiable. It results in the exclusion of funds that have a long-standing recognition in awards and which provide generous and reliable benefits that have been agreed with large groups of employees subject to awards'. 54

2.47 Corporate Super Specialist Alliance specifically criticised the rationale provided by the Productivity Commission, arguing that:

The suggestion in the Productivity Commission Report that employers choose default funds for ease of administration, and not in the best interest of its employees, is without substantiation and is intuitively incorrect. Employers are usually members of the default fund also, so why would they not select the fund most suitable to members?⁵⁵

2.48 Opponents of the change commonly argued that certain corporate superannuation arrangements should be able to be used as a default fund by a specific employer even though not listed in a relevant award. Such funds should include standalone corporate funds offering MySuper or tailored MySuper arrangement and other funds offering a MySuper facility.⁵⁶

See, for example, Qantas Group, *Submission 5*, pp 1–5; Australian Mines and Metals Association, *Submission 30*, p. 3; Rio Tinto, *Submission 32*, p. 7.

55 Corporate Super Specialist Alliance, Submission 4, p. 2.

⁵¹ Except in the case of defined benefit members.

See, for example, Mercer Australia, *Submission 13*, p. 2; Russell Investments, *Submission 16*, pp 3–4; Financial Services Council, *Submission 31*, pp 10–11.

⁵⁴ Corporate Super Association, Submission 2, p. 2.

See, for example, Mercer Australia, Submission 13, p. 3.

- 2.49 Opponents also addressed the 'grandfathering' provision currently in the Modern Awards. This provision enabled employers to retain their existing default super fund if it was the default at 12 September 2008. Some submitters argued that if the proposed amendments were passed, then the grandfathering provisions should be retained to bring about certainty.⁵⁷
- 2.50 Ai Group, while expressing support for the bill's other provisions in respect of superannuation, was critical of the removal of 'grandfathering' provisions which would preclude employers to from continuing to contribute to corporate MySuper products. AiGroup called for the bill to be amended to include a grandfathering arrangement in each modern award for corporate funds with MySuper products. 59
- 2.51 During the public hearing in Canberra, Mr Dick Grozier, Director, ACCI, suggested that alternatively the proposed bill could be amended to provide that modern awards would permit contributions into tailored or corporate MySuper products.⁶⁰

Consultation

2.52 Some submitters also expressed concern that they were not 'warned' of the impending change to the superannuation arrangements. A number of submitters argued that the amendment flew in the face of legislation tabled as late as September 2012 (the Superannuation Legislation Amendment (Further MySuper and Transparency Measures) Bill 2012), the Explanatory Memorandum for which provided in part:

A term of a modern award will still have effect if it requires or permits superannuation contributions to a class of fund but does not specify a particular fund. For example, most modern awards include a grandfather clause that permits an employer to make contributions to a fund that the employer was contributing to before 12 September 2008, provided the fund is an eligible choice fund.⁶¹

2.53 These submitters considered that the reassurance they had taken from the MySuper Core Provisions Bill Explanatory Memorandum had been misleading. In

⁵⁷ See, for example, Russell Investments, *Submission 16*, p. 5.

⁵⁸ Ai Group, Submission 26, p. 5.

Ai Group, *Submission 26*, p. 5. Ai Group suggested a clause such as the following: 'any superannuation fund that offers a MySuper product to which the employee was making superannuation contributions for the benefit of its employees before 12 September 2008, providing that the superannuation fund is an eligible choice fund'.

This 'would provide for these companies specific funds which are authorised to offer MySuper products the same status as contributions that go into public sector schemes or defined benefit schemes': Mr Dick Grozier, Director Industrial Relations, NSW Business Chamber, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 5.

Explanatory Memorandum, Superannuation Legislation Amendment (Further MySuper and Transparency Measures) Bill 2012, paragraph 4.20.

addition, some submitters argued that the money they had spent on attaining MySuper status would now be wasted. 62

2.54 However, the Department told the committee that in addition to consultations it had conducted, the Fair Work Review Panel had also engaged in lengthy consultations as part of its review process.⁶³

Time and cost implications

- 2.55 Other concerns were associated with the time and cost of implementing the proposed changes. The Corporate Super Specialist Alliance submitted that the Productivity Commission Report significantly underestimated the time and effort required by an employer in switching funds, based on the need to go through a selection process, the cost of professional assistance and the time needed to undertake a communication programme to employees.⁶⁴
- 2.56 The amendment would bring about the need to make specific purpose agreements to deal with super. Some submitters argued that this would be both expensive and disruptive. Associated with this is an argument that it would bring multiple laters of bureaucracy into play an application to APRA to become a MySuper fund, approval by the Default Selection Panel, and then vetting by FWA.⁶⁵
- 2.57 It was also submitted that, even once switching of funds has been achieved, many large employers have different groups of employees covered by a number of different awards. That potentially increases cost and complexity for that employer as they have to direct default contributions to a number of different funds.⁶⁶
- 2.58 Instead, some submitters called for any MySuper fund to be eligible to be a default fund.⁶⁷ As an alternative, there was a consistent call for the retention of 'grandfathering' provisions.⁶⁸

Support for superannuation reforms

2.59 However, criticism of the move was not unanimous. Mr Tim Lyons, Assistant Secretary, ACTU, reminded the committee that proposed changes gave effect to 'what the Productivity Commission wanted, which is for somebody who is not the employer

See, for example, Corporate Super Association, *Submission 2*, p. 3; Corporate Super Specialist Alliance, *Submission 4*, p. 4.

Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, Workplace Relations and Economic Strategy, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 23.

⁶⁴ Corporate Super Specialist Alliance, *Submission 4*, p. 4. See also Russell Investments, *Submission 16*, p. 4.

⁶⁵ See, for example, Corporate Super Specialist Alliance, *Submission 4*, p. 2; Financial Services Council, *Submission 31*, p. 6.

Russell Investments, Submission 16, p. 4.

⁶⁷ See, for example, Financial Services Council, Submission 31, p. 4;

⁶⁸ See, for example, Ai Group, Submission 26, p. 5.

to look at the question of what an appropriate default super product is and to make that decision for disengaged workers'. ⁶⁹

2.60 Dr Alison Morehead, Group Manager, DEEWR, advised the committee that any workplace that has an enterprise agreement may choose to list superannuation funds in that agreement:

If the parties to the agreement have chosen to list superannuation funds in them, they do not need to go through the process that default funds in awards will go through under the bill. Anyone who has MySuper product that is in an enterprise agreement is able to continue doing that and is not part of the process. The process that is suggested is about awards and about employees who rely on the default funds which are listed in awards.⁷⁰

2.61 In its submission, the ACTU argued that:

This approach recognises that because of the highly imperfect nature of the 'market' for default funds, and because the new MySuper regulations will allow product tailoring and differential pricing, MySuper-compliance is a necessary but insufficient condition for a fund that wishes to be named as a default in an award. It is therefore appropriate to develop a selection process that builds on MySuper-compliance by combining input from those with expertise in superannuation or related fields with input from industrial stakeholders. This provision secures that objective.⁷¹

2.62 The ACTU went on to argue that the transition arrangements contained in the bill were appropriate to the circumstances:

This provision recognises that there may be circumstances where it is in the interests of members for a newly excluded fund to be allowed to continue to receive default contributions for a transitional period. For some employers it may take time to identify a new fund appropriate to their circumstances and to put new administrative arrangements in place. It is therefore appropriate for the Commission to have discretion in this area. ⁷²

2.63 The Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees (AIST) also expressed strong approval for the measures, submitting that:

AIST fully supports the Bill in relation to the selection of super funds in awards. AIST has made submissions to the issues paper issued by the Productivity Commission in April 2012, its report in August 2012, and was involved in meetings with the Productivity Commission and the public hearings. Throughout this process, and the subsequent response of the

70 Dr Alison Morehead, Group Manager, Workplace Relations Policy, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 24.

⁶⁹ Mr Tim Lyons, Assistant Secretary, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 18.

Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 6. See also, Mr Tim Lyons, Assistant Secretary, Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, pp 18–19.

Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 8*, p. 6.

Government, AIST has seen a progressive strengthening of consumer protections, and increased transparency, contestability, accountability and practicality in the emerging proposals.⁷³

The AIST also considered the transitional arrangements to be satisfactory: 2.64

The transitional authorisation provided to the regulator...ensures that employers can be given a reasonable amount of time to transition across to new default arrangements, should this be necessitated by changes to a default fund term in an award.⁷⁴

2.65 Industry Super Network (ISN) were also in support, submitting that:

> ISN welcomes the Bill which increases transparency in the process by which default superannuation funds are named in modern awards and ensures the process has as its overarching consideration the best interests of employees. The Bill implements the key recommendations of the final report of the Productivity Commission and successfully incorporates those key recommendations into a functional system that recognises that Superannuation Guarantee payments are a form of deferred wages.⁷⁵

Power to appoint Expert Panel Members to conduct four yearly reviews

- 2.66 The bill proposes to provide members of the new Fair Work Commission with the power to appoint three expert panel members to sit with the FWC members during the four yearly reviews of default fund terms in modern awards.
- 2.67 The measure was criticised by some. For example, HIA was concerned that these new provisions introduce another layer of governmental intervention allowing the "conflicted" parties of FWC to continue to select default superannuation funds. Whilst HIA does not have a preference over industry or retail funds it expressed concern that

[T]he proposed provisions favour industry funds and would enable the removal of a default fund as part of the 4 yearly review. Such a function is anti-competitive and will reduce flexibility.⁷⁶

In contrast, the ACTU, the MUA, and the Ai Group, among others, support 2.68 this measure.⁷⁷ The AIST also expressed strong support, arguing that the proposal:

It is most efficient for all stakeholders, including employers, and society generally for the existing industrial regulator, Fair Work Australia ("FWA"), to be directly responsible for the selection of default funds...An expert panel within FWA provides appropriate alignment between expert

76 Housing Industry Association, Submission 14, p. 6.

⁷³ Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees, Submission 9, p. 1.

⁷⁴ Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees, Submission 9, p. 6.

⁷⁵ Industry Super Network, Submission 19, p. ii.

⁷⁷ See for example, Australian Council of Trade Unions, Submission 8; MUA, Submission 21, p. 2; Ai Group, Submission 26, p. 6.

superannuation knowledge and the overall regulation of workplace relations.⁷⁸

- 2.69 The Financial Services Council expressed concerns that four-yearly reviews may lead to a short-term focus, to the detriment of members' long term interests.⁷⁹
- 2.70 However, AIST supported the requirement for default funds to be reviewed 4-yearly:

AIST supports efforts to ensure that the relevance and appropriateness of default funds is reviewed frequently, and we believe that the creation of default superannuation fund lists as proposed in [the bill] is suitable for this. We also believe that this process achieves the Productivity Commission's principles... of best interests, contestability and competition, transparency, procedural fairness, minimum regulatory burden, market stability, consistency with other policies and regular assessment.⁸⁰

2.71 During the public hearing in Canberra, Mr Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, DEEWR, explained to the committee the rationale behind four yearly reviews:

The Productivity Commission recommended a major review every eight years with an interim review at a four yearly term. The government's view was that that was probably too long a period of time. Conversely, having an ongoing opportunity to vary modern awards would go contrary to the concept of a stable and secure safety net, so it probably goes to the other end of the spectrum. In the government's view, the four-yearly time frame is an appropriate time frame which will ensure that those sorts of developments in the marketplace in terms of products and whatever will certainly be adequate to provide the opportunity to be reflected in modern awards.⁸¹

Conclusion

- 2.72 The evidence before this committee indicates broad overall support for the bill. It is clear to the committee that this first stage of amendments to the Act are the product of lengthy consultations and reflect an appropriate balance of the needs of both employer and employee groups.
- 2.73 Consistent with its undertaking when the Act came into force, the government conducted a review of the Act within two years of its implementation. The Review Panel consulted widely and received more than 250 submissions. The Review Panel concluded that the Act was working well and the economic outcomes achieved under the Act were consistent with Australia's productivity and prosperity.

Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees, *Submission 9*, p. 6.

Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees, Submission 9, p. 2.

⁷⁹ Financial Services Council, *Submission 31*, p. 12.

Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, Workplace Relations and Economic Strategy, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 25.

- 2.74 The amendments contained in this bill reflect the government's implementation of around a third of the recommendations made by the Review Panel those amendments that attracted broad support from the majority of employer and employee groups.
- 2.75 Nevertheless, submitters and witnesses hold divergent views on some amendments to the bill arising from the Review Panel. Some submitters have welcomed the bill because of its timely and necessary reforms, where others have expressed concerns about the amendments.
- 2.76 The committee is mindful of the detailed and lengthy consultations that both the Review Panel and DEEWR have conducted, and that this bill represents the first of a number of bills in the Fair Work reform package. Added to this, the committee notes the overall support for passing of the bill even among those submitters who have expressed criticisms about particular provisions.
- 2.77 In relation to the amendments pertaining to superannuation, it is important to remember that the amendments only operate in cases where a person has not otherwise indicated their choice of super fund. Furthermore, enterprise agreements may continue to specify corporate MySuper funds as the default fund.
- 2.78 It is also of fundamental importance that member funds be protected through a thorough and independent assessment of default funds specified in awards, which is precisely what the FWA review process is designed to achieve.

Recommendation 1

2.79 The committee recommends that the Senate pass the bill.

Senator Gavin Marshall

Chair

COALITION SENATORS' DISSENTING REPORT

Introduction

- 1.1 Coalition Senators are highly disappointed that once again, the Government has rushed through the Committee a significant Bill that will affect each employer, employee and independent contractor in Australia without the Committee being able to conduct fulsome inquiries.
- 1.2 This Bill was introduced into the House of Representatives at 4.30pm on 30 October and called on for debate the next morning 31 October with a vote later that day. The Minister has made no explanation for the critical need for this legislation to be passed and the Department did not provide any explanation at the Hearing. While Coalition Senators have formed some views which are explored in this report, given the brief nature of the inquiry and the time constraints of the hearing it is noted that not all submissions have received the scrutiny they deserved. Should more time have been allowed, the Committee could have heard from more witnesses.
- 1.3 Coalition Senators are concerned that the Government has titled this Bill as the 'Fair Work Amendment Bill 2012' under the auspices of enacting recommendations from the Fair Work Review. Despite this deceptive title, this Bill also makes significant changes to the Fair Work Act in relation to the operation of Fair Work Australia, Modern Awards and Superannuation.

Recommendation

That the Senate Committee be given an opportunity to fully consider legislation prior to debate in the Senate.

Superannuation

- 1.4 Coalition Senators have long expressed concern about the Government's failure to address the current closed shop, anti-competitive arrangements for the selection of default funds under Modern Awards through Fair Work Australia. Sadly the amendments in this Bill will continue to propagate these closed-shop arrangements.
- 1.5 The current process for the selection of default funds under modern awards, initiated by this government and run by Fair Work Australia lacks transparency. It is littered with inherent conflicts and inappropriately favours union dominated industry super funds.
- 1.6 Coalition Senators welcomed the Government's belated recognition in its 2010 pre-election policy¹ on superannuation where they promised to introduce an open, transparent and competitive process to select default funds under modern awards.

¹ Australian Labor Party, Fairer, Simpler Superannuation, 2010, Election Policy Document.

- 1.7 Despite this election commitment, it took Minister Shorten a considerable amount of time to ask the Productivity Commission to examine this important issue.
- 1.8 After pre-empting its final report, Minister Shorten then cherry-picked those aspects of the Productivity Commission's report that maintained the status-quo.
- 1.9 Coalition Senators are deeply disappointed that the government has introduced legislation into Parliament which, instead of ensuring genuine competition, will impose an additional layer of government intervention in the default fund market particularly in light of the Government's election commitments.
- 1.10 The government has sought in this legislation to limit the number of MySuper products in Modern Awards to a maximum of 10, despite the Productivity Commission's clear recommendation that:

Recommendation 8.4

The number of default products listed in a given modern award should be at the discretion of the Default Superannuation Panel.²

- 1.11 Further, the government has ignored the Productivity Commission's findings in a number of areas including but not limited to:
- The Productivity Commission's proposed 'Default Superannuation Panel' will not be created as recommended rather it will be subsumed into the existing Minimum Wage Panel;
- The new Panel is not the final decision maker under this Bill as recommended instead the Full Bench of Fair Work Australia (FWA) will approve default funds in each award after a recommendation from the Expert Panel;
- The process of including funds in awards will only occur every 4 years starting in 2014 when Modern Awards are due for review as opposed to an ongoing application process; and
- All awards must have default funds currently there are 13 awards that do not list default funds.
- 1.12 Coalition Senators firmly believe that genuine competition in the default fund market is critically important to ensure efficiencies and value for Australians in default super funds are maximised. If passed by the Parliament, this would see the continuation of a process where conflicted parties within Fair Work Australia will continue to select default super funds under modern awards.
- 1.13 In submissions to the Committee, the Financial Services Council said:

We believe the market structure proposed in this Bill for default super / MySuper will limit competition in the \$1.4 trillion superannuation industry and result in reduced fee pressure and innovation for consumers.³

1.14 Coalition Senators also agree with the OECD:

² Productivity Commission, *Default Funds in Modern Awards*, Final Report, p. 25.

³ FSC, Submission 31, p. 3.

All OECD countries rely fundamentally on competition in product markets to organise production. Competition stimulates innovation and efficiency in the use of resources, thereby leading to greater product diversification and lower prices. Therefore, competitive product markets are in the interest of all consumers.⁴

- 1.15 The government is currently also legislating through its various MySuper Bills all the consumer protection requirements it judges are important in a default fund product.
- 1.16 Given this matter is under active consideration, there is no reason why every product which qualifies as a MySuper product should not be able to compete freely in the default fund market. This will surely achieve the best outcome for employees.
- 1.17 The Government has provided no justification for the additional cost and complexity which comes with an additional layer of government intervention in that market.
- 1.18 Coalition Senators are troubled by submissions that express concerns about the Minister's consultation process. The Financial Services Council said:

We note that the Explanatory Memorandum indicates that: 'the Bill was developed following extensive consultation with superannuation industry stakeholders.....' This is incorrect. There was minimal consultation with the superannuation industry on this legislation. Apart from a single meeting held on 23 October 2012, there was no exposure draft legislation and therefore no consultation on the draft provisions. The first time the industry saw the legislation was when it was presented to Parliament.⁵

- 1.19 Given the Government's promise of open and transparent governance, this appears to be yet another example of a distinct lack of consultation. This, combined with the rushed nature of this inquiry and the speed at which this Bill is to be progressed through the Parliament, makes for bad decision making and leaves the effect of this Bill susceptible to unintended consequences.
- 1.20 Quite clearly, there are significant issues with the superannuation aspects of this Bill which will lead to poor outcomes for employers and employees alike, as evidenced in Qantas' submission:

There is no cogent rationale for changing the position as proposed in the Further MySuper Bill less than 2 months ago. Such removal will lead to inconsistencies and impact negatively on employers with employer-sponsored funds as discussed below.

1.21 Coalition Senators are deeply concerned that Minister Shorten has been so desperate to protect the vested interests of his friends in the union movement that he has lost sight of his responsibility as a Minister of the Crown to act in the public

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *Competition: Economic Issues*.

⁵ FSC, *Submission 31*, p. 5.

interest.

Recommendation

1.22 That the Bill be amended to ensure that all MySuper products are eligible to be selected under the Modern Awards.

Fair Work Review

- 1.23 On December 20 last year, Minister Shorten finally announced the details for the review of the Fair Work Act. In doing so, he appointed three so-called 'independent' reviewers, Professor Ron McCallum, Dr John Edwards and the Hon. Michael Moore, who were given skewed and limited Terms of Reference, asking them to view the issues with blinkers on.
- 1.24 The Terms of Reference failed to incorporate vital ingredients of productivity, flexibility and union militancy but were clearly skewed to look in a particular narrowly focussed direction. Despite having the 'independent' Office of Best Practice Regulation attempting to allay Coalition Senators' fears, documents obtained under Freedom of Information laws revealed that there was real concern within that office and the Department of Finance about the "narrow" scope of the review and the omission of productivity, the impact of union militancy and the cost impact on red tape.
- 1.25 Further Freedom of Information requests revealed that Mr Shorten only signed off on the Terms of Reference after political advisers had rewritten them to achieve Labor's political goals.
- 1.26 Coalition Senators note that this is the Professor McCallum who recently predicted the Baillieu Government would lose the next election and praised the Leader of the Victorian Labor Opposition Daniel Andrews⁶ and who also said prior to his appointment to the panel that 'only tinkering would be required to the Fair Work Act, which would stay in place for the next decade'. Such comments hardly inspire confidence that rigorous independent scrutiny would be applied to the review.
- 1.27 In May 2006 just two months after policies 'dead, buried and cremated' were introduced the good professor gave a very robust ideological account of the legislation, saying:

...it will make our workforce docile and bring in a neo-liberal hegemony into this country...

And

⁶ Baillieu likely to lose election: McCallum, AAP, 13 August 2012.

⁷ *Unpacking the Fair Work Act*, Professor Ron McCallum, 30 May 2011, <u>www.hwlebsworth.com.au/latest-news-a-publications/publications/workplace-relations-and-safety/item/347-unpacking-the-fair-work-act.html</u>

I fear for this country; I fear for the fact that workers are going to be in a perilous position. We are going to see, I think within a very short time, 30% of working women in part-time employment becoming part of the working poor.

- 1.28 As well as railing against the independent Australian Fair Pay Commission, including the trade union boss and community sector worker who were members as:
 - ...full of what I would call neo-classical and neo-liberal economists...
- 1.29 Coalition Senators note that when it comes to the Fair Work Act after a full two years of operation Professor McCallum believes:

I think this act should be under scrutiny for a longer time...

- 1.30 Further the professor raged against the use of the Corporations power by the Coalition when in government but has been strangely silent on its use for the Fair Work Act.
- 1.31 Other members of the panel included: Dr John Edwards, a former political adviser to Paul Keating who went on to write a book titled *John Curtin: Australia's Greatest Prime Minister*. He apparently had not heard of Robert Menzies. It seems that in selecting the reviewers the most important consideration was their predisposition to the Labor school of thought.
- 1.32 Coalition Senators believe that the Terms of Reference deliberately excluded the vital ingredients of productivity, flexibility and union boss militancy and were clearly skewed towards a predetermined outcome. Despite the Review being a disappointing document on so many levels, Coalition Senators note that on certain issues the reviewers were mugged by stark realities.
- 1.33 The Coalition has flagged general support for the review.⁸

Vice Presidents of Fair Work Australia

- 1.34 This Bill also contains the creation of two additional Vice President positions at Fair Work Australia two of the highest offices in the organisation. Mr Shorten has completely failed to explain why these additional positions are required or justified, apart from the Department's submission that the President of Fair Work Australia sought the additional roles. These two positions would slot in as the second and third most senior officers of the tribunal.
- 1.35 Since the announcement of these two additional positions, there has been widespread community concern, including from within Fair Work Australia.
- 1.36 The Australian Financial Review reported recently that:

In an email obtained by the Weekend Financial Review, Senior deputy president Les Kaufman wrote to Fair Work president lain Ross on

Address to the Norton Rose Australia Employment Conference by Senator Eric Abetz, 31 August 2012.

Wednesday questioning the need for two positions, which reintroduces a level of seniority at the tribunal that was removed under the Fair Work Act in 2009.

He said the appointments would further erode the standing of the tribunal and "gives rise to the perception it is being stacked. Although I have no direct interest in the creation of the two new vice-president positions because, as you know my commission expires on December 1, I wish to express my dismay at what appears to be a retrograde step," Kaufman wrote to Justice Ross.

Deputy presidents Graeme Watson and Peter Richards have also written to Justice Ross over concerns the federal government will use the opportunity to install government-friendly appointees. ⁹

1.37 Many submissions to the Committee expressed deep reservations about the inclusion of these two positions. Comments include:

From our perspective the need for the creation of these additional positions and the requirement that they be statutory positions is unclear. Neither the Fair Work Act Review Panel nor submissions to the review have identified the absence of these statutory positions as inhibiting the performance of Fair Work Australia.¹⁰

And:

This was not recommended by the Panel. It is unclear why these amendments are necessary or required and are opposed without amendments.

. . .

It is unclear why the existing Vice Presidents would not be suitable for reappointment to the new statutory Vice Presidential roles.¹¹

1.38 To this end, there was wide stakeholder support for the appointment of the two Members of Fair Work Australia titled as 'Vice President' to the new positions. Mr Steve Knott of AMMA told the Committee:

The legislation previously recognised the two existing vice presidents—Vice President Lawler and Vice President Watson—but the current legislation does not. The proposal is to have the legislation recognise those two roles once again and put two new people into those roles. It is a real pea-and-thimble trick. For those with long memories in industrial relations, we will go back to the late eighties when there was new legislation and everybody got appointed except one member of the tribunal, a fellow by the name of Justice Staples. I think this does give the opportunity—and, again, we have commented on this publicly—to really damage the independence

11 Submission 25, p. 38.

⁹ Australian Financial Review, 10 November 2012, p. 3.

¹⁰ *Submission 20*, p. 6.

or the perceived independence and impartiality of the tribunal. We have senior appointments made to the tribunal which, through the political cycle—there are people who are appointed by one side who may not be appointed by another side, but that is the way it goes over the fullness of time in the political cycle.

- 1.39 Coalition Senators are deeply concerned that the appointment of pro-Labor vice presidents would bring into question the tribunal's integrity which has already suffered considerable damage courtesy of the Health Services Union scandal.
- 1.40 In a significant submission, the Law Council of Australia said:

As a general principle, once a person has been appointed to sit on a Court or independent Tribunal with designated powers and privileges, any change that would have the effect of removing or reducing that particular person's powers or privileges while not affecting the powers and privileges of other Members of that Tribunal, has a tendency to undermine the independence of the Court or Tribunal.

Members of FWA are appointed to a quasi-judicial position. The status of FWA depends upon the independence and impartiality of its Members being maintained and being seen to be maintained.

. . .

Should the Government appoint the two individuals currently designated Vice President to the two statutory Vice President positions, then their status will not be reduced. However, if the two Deputy Presidents designated Vice Presidents are not so appointed, the effect of the Bill will be to reduce their status. Henceforth responsibilities that would have been capable of being delegated or given to them by nature of their senior status would instead be given to the new statutory Vice Presidents.

This would have the tendency to reduce the independence of the Tribunal in that it will reduce the role and privileges associated with particular individuals. 12

- 1.41 Coalition Senators' strong view is that regardless of the views on Vice Presidents Watson and Lawler, in the interests of protecting the tribunal they should be appointed to the positions consistent with submissions referenced in this Report.
- 1.42 It is noted that there has been public speculation¹³ about the appointment of such people as Mr Jeff Lawrence, Mr Josh Bornstein and Justice Michael Walton.
- 1.43 During the public hearing Mr John Kovacic, Deputy Secretary, DEEWR, emphasised that the positions had been created on the basis of a recommendation made by the President of Fair Work Australia, and that 'the positions will be publically advertised and will be subject to a merit based selection process consistent with government policy'. 14

13 http://catallaxyfiles.com/2012/11/17/shorten-delivers-for-his-mates/

¹² *Submission* 29, p. 4.

¹⁴ Proof Committee Hansard, 21 November 2012, p. 20.

1.44 Coalition Senators note that despite the Government's 'merit based selection' processes, and the promise before the 2007 election by then Labor Leader Kevin Rudd that:

I give you this as an absolute guarantee here on your program. I will not be prime minister of this country and appoint some endless tribe of trade union officials to staff or ex trade union officials to staff the key positions in this body. That's not my intention. That's not the way in which it's going to work.¹⁵

- 1.45 There has been an overwhelming number of people appointed to Fair Work Australia with a trade union pedigree, including in the last round Mr Bernie Riordan a former Electrical Trades Union official who mysteriously had civil proceedings against him settled the day before his appointment.
- 1.46 Despite the Explanatory Memorandum stating that there would be no cost associated with this Bill, Mr Kovacic stated:

There are costs, and those costs are to be absorbed by Fair Work Australia. It is difficult to be precise as to the actual cost, given that the Remuneration Tribunal is yet to determine remuneration for those positions. I think a ballpark figure in the order of \$1.5 million per annum is what we have been projecting.

1.47 The Coalition trusts that the resourcing of these positions will not come at the expense of Fair Work Australia's newly established branch to oversee the financial accountability and transparency of trade union bosses.

Recommendation

1.48 The creation of two additional Vice Presidents of Fair Work Australia be strongly opposed.

Recommendation

1.49 Should the positions be created, Vice Presidents Watson and Lawler be appointed to the positions.

'Fair Work Commission'

1.50 The Fair Work Review Panel's clear recommendation that:

The Panel recommends that the FW Act be amended to change the name of Fair Work Australia to a title which more aptly denotes its functions. It is recommended that the new title contain the word 'Commission' and that it no longer contain the words 'Fair Work'. ¹⁶

¹⁵ Hon. Kevin Rudd MP, 7.30 Report, 30 April 2007.

¹⁶ Fair Work Review Panel, Recommendation 50.

- 1.51 Despite this, Coalition Senators were somewhat surprised that the legislation seeks to change Fair Work Australia's name to 'Fair Work Commission' in clear contradiction of the recommendation.
- 1.52 The Government has refused to provide any explanation for why this recommendation was partially rejected, however Mr Steve Knott from AMMA has been able to shed some light on this matter in his evidence to the Committee:

We understand, and you get this through the bush telegraph, that the very highest levels of government want the name Fair Work retained and it has now come forward and was put forward as a decision as opposed to a consultation issue that it will be the Fair Work Commission.¹⁷

- 1.53 It is clear that the Prime Minister herself intervened to protect the 'Fair Work' name in the title of the Commission, contrary to the recommendation of a million dollar review and the wishes of the President of Fair Work Australia. 18
- 1.54 Coalition Senators note that there was widespread support for a change of name, the Maritime Workers Union submitted:

The MUA supports calls for further amendment of the name to its natural form...

. . .

The Commission has been and remains a cornerstone of a functioning Australian democracy and is renowned for its fair and efficient management of industrial relations following federation with the enactment of the Conciliation and Arbitration Act 1904.

As such, the Commission deserves a name that is recognised throughout Australia and should revert to its longstanding and accepted form.

1.55 Coalition Senators note that there is wide stakeholder support for the name being changed to 'Australian Workplace Relations Commission'.

Recommendation

1.56 The name of 'Fair Work Australia' be amended to 'Australian Workplace Relations Commission'.

Other recommendations

Barclay v. Bendigo TAFE

1.57 The High Court's unanimous judgement in the Barclay v. Bendigo TAFE case found that union bosses should not be an untouchable class in the workplace – something also recommended by the Review Panel.

¹⁷ *Proof Committee Hansard*, 21 November 2012, p. 10.

¹⁸ Proof Estimates Hansard, 28 May 2012, p. 52.

- 1.58 Coalition Senators welcome the High Court decision and the Fair Work Panel Review's recommendation to this end. 19
- 1.59 However, Coalition Senators found it disappointing and emblematic that Labor, through Minister Shorten, intervened in the High Court on the side of the union boss, Mr Barclay, arguing that it actually was the intention of the Fair Work Act to make union bosses untouchable even if they did the wrong thing.
- 1.60 Labor intervened in Barclay using more than $$160 \ 000^{20}$ of taxpayers' money to argue for the union bosses against a taxpayer funded education institution.
- 1.61 Indeed, in a damning judgement by High Court Justice Heydon, it has now been confirmed that Mr Shorten acted as an ex-union boss first and Minister of the Crown second after foolishly intervening on the side of the Australian Education Union in the Barclay v. Bendigo TAFE case.
- 1.62 Justice Heydon said:

...the Minister's stance before and during the oral hearing was not that of an intervener, but that of a partisan. For example, some of the Minister's oral submissions were directed to factual material. This is hardly the province of an intervener... ²¹

1.63 The Committee was told by Ms Lisa Matthews of AMMA:

That (this recommendation) is a step in the right direction and we would have liked to have seen that in this current round of reforms.

- 1.64 Coalition Senators are disappointed that the Government did not use the 'first tranche' to enshrine this recommendation into legislation that would ensure that union bosses are treated the same as all other employees in the workplace.
- 1.65 There is broad concern in the community in relation to reports²² that the Government will give union representatives and members a new avenue to sue for alleged discrimination against them when acting in that capacity under changes to discrimination laws announced Attorney-General Ms Nicola Roxon.
- 1.66 Coalition Senators are concerned that the new legislation would allow for expanded protections for union bosses who do the wrong thing in the workplace, despite the High Court's judgement in the Barclay v. Bendigo TAFE case and the Fair Work Review Panel recommendation.

¹⁹ Recommendation 47.

²⁰ Proof Estimates Hansard, 17 October 2012, p. 107.

Board of Bendigo Regional Institute of Technical and Further Education v Barclay [No 2] [2012] HCA 42 (3 October 2012).

Union ties 'basis for discrimination', *The Australian*, 22 November 2012, p. 1.

J.J Richards

- 1.67 Then Opposition Leader Kevin Rudd pledged, that the Fair Work Act would not allow the return of 'strike first, talk later'. Yet, the decision of the Federal Court in the JJ Richards case tells a different story.
- 1.68 The Federal Court's judgment accepts that the argument advanced on behalf of JJ Richards was understandable and reasonable but for the specific wording in the Fair Work Act which entitles unions to obtain protected action ballots in circumstances where most reasonable people would argue that should not be allowed.
- 1.69 The Government is yet to tell us whether this was simply a drafting error or that Labor deliberately misled the Australian people. Their silence is interesting and causes Coalition Senators to suspect the latter.
- Without having seen the appearances of the early witnesses this evening, I would imagine it is a reasonable expectation that there might have been differing views as to the approach on those recommendations. That was consistent with what emerged in the consultations that the minister convened around the panel's report, where there was clearly not a consensus view around on how to respond to those particular recommendations. As I mentioned in the opening statement, this bill really reflects those recommendations where there is a consensus...²³
- 1.71 Coalition Senators believe that if the provisions of this case had exposed a drafting error, the Government would move with some speed to implement the stated policy that received electoral support at the 2007 election. Coalition Senators are concerned that, should the Government not rectify this, it will be viewed as a broken promise in a similar vein to the Carbon Tax that Australia had to have despite promises to the contrary in 2010.

Recommendation

1.72 Fair Work Review Panel Recommendations 31 and 47 be implemented as soon as practically possible.

Key Performance Indicators

- 1.73 Coalition Senators are concerned that despite some of the amendments in this Bill coming out of the Fair Work Review's Post-Implementation Review, witnesses could not point to these amendments leading to any substantive increases to the Government's Key Performance Indicators²⁴ for the Fair Work Act.
- 1.74 Mr Daniel Mammone from the Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry told the Committee in relation to the key performance indicator of Working Days Lost due to Industrial Disputes:

24 Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Annual Report 2011–12*.

²³ Proof Committee Hansard, 21 November 2012, p. 23.

So, in terms of the first tranche response bill, there are no changes in terms of the restrictions on taking protected industrial action per se. ²⁵

1.75 While there was evidence from the Australian Council of Trade Unions, consistent with public statements from the Minister for Employment and Workplace Relations that:

Taking a longer term view (see figures below), it is clear that current levels of industrial disputes are at historically very low levels even when one takes into account the peaks associated with large bargaining rounds.²⁶

- 1.76 Coalition Senators note that the most recent Industrial Disputes data released by the Australian Bureau of Statistics reveals an 8 year high on working days lost due to industrial action. It is clear that both the Minister and the ACTU have used a very long term view to try and misconstrue the statistics. This dishonest approach does not allow for a transparent industrial relations debate.
- 1.77 Coalition Senators note that the 293 100 working days lost due to industrial action is the equivalent of 1,221 people sitting out on strike for a whole year. Avoiding such an outcome would lead to a significant productivity improvement.
- 1.78 In relation to another Key Performance Indicator, productivity, Ms Lisa Matthews of AMMA said:

In relation to productivity improvements, we cannot really see any of the aspects of the bill adding to industry productivity.

1.79 While the first tranche legislation will make changes around the edges, Coalition Senators are disappointed that the Government hasn't taken this opportunity to address the militancy, flexibility nor productivity problems that have been unleashed in the wider community courtesy of this Act.

Conclusion

1.80 While having broad-ranging concerns with this Bill, Coalition Senators believe the concerns can be addressed with relatively minor amendments.

Recommendation

1.81 The Senate amend the Bill in line with recommendations in this report.

Senator	Chris	васк
Deputy	Chair	

Senator Bridget McKenzie

25 Proof Committee Hansard, 21 November 2012, p. 3.

Answer to Question on Notice.

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

Submission Number	Submitter
1	The Employment Law Centre of WA
2	Corporate Superannuation Association
3	Master Electricians Australia
4	Corporate Super Specialist Alliance
5	Qantas Group
6	National Tertiary Education Union
7	Victorian Automobile Chamber of Commerce
8	Australian Council of Trade Unions
9	Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees
10	Queensland Nurses' Union
11	Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union
12	Job Watch Inc
13	Mercer Pty Ltd
14	Housing Industry Association
15	Chamber of Commerce and Industry WA
16	Russell Investments
17	Kingsford Legal Centre

18	Master Builders Australia Ltd
19	Industry Super Network
20	Business Council of Australia
21	Maritime Union of Australia
22	Redfern Legal Centre
23	Australian Federation of Employers and Industries
24	Victorian Employers' Chamber of Commerce and Industry
25	Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry
26	Australian Industry Group
27	Australian Business Industrial
28	Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations
29	Law Council of Australia
30	Australian Mines and Metals Association
31	Financial Services Council
32	Rio Tinto Ltd
33	Nab Wealth
34	The Association of Superannuation Funds of Australia Limited

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1 Answers to questions on notice from ACTU received 22 November, 2012.

ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

- 1 Answers to questions on notice from ACTU received 22 November, 2012.
- 2 Answers to questions on notice from DEEWR received 23 November, 2012.

APPENDIX 2

Witnesses who appeared before the Committee

Canberra, 21 November 2012

BREEN, Mr Adrian, Senior Executive Lawyer, Workplace Relations Legal Group, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

CACCAMO, Mr Tony, Director Workplace Operations, Australian Mines and Metals Association

CLARKE, Mr Trevor, Senior Legal and Industrial Officer, Australian Council of Trade Unions

CULLY, Mr Peter, Branch Manager, Workplace Relations Policy Group, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

GROZIER, Mr Dick, Director Industrial Relations, Australian Business Industrial and New South Wales Business Chamber

KNOTT, Mr Steve, Chief Executive, Australian Mines and Metals Association

KOVACIC, Mr John Anton, Deputy Secretary, Workplace Relations and Economic Strategy, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

LYONS, Mr Tim, Assistant Secretary, Australian Council of Trade Unions

MAMMONE, Mr Daniel, Director of Workplace Policy and Director of Legal Affairs, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry

MATTHEWS, Ms Lisa Maree, Senior Workplace Policy Adviser, Australian Mines and Metals Association

MOREHEAD, Dr Alison, Group Manager, Workplace Relations Policy Group, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

O'SULLIVAN, Mr Jeremy, Chief Counsel, Workplace Relations Legal Group, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations